IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

NEIL WILSON WILDING, Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 82,696

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Indian River County, Florida. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote the trial transcript.

The symbol "SR" will denote the supplemental record.

The symbol "ST" will denote the supplemental transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 17, 1992, Appellant, NEIL WILSON WILDING, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder R12. Appellant was also charged with aggravated burglary and sexual battery R13. Jury selection began on July 6, 1993 T97. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal T1057-60, 1090. Appellant's motions were denied T1059,1061,1090. Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree, aggravated burglary and sexual battery R547.

The trial court struck the jury for the penalty phase T1229. A new jury was empaneled for the penalty phase. The penalty phase commenced on September 8, 1993 T1666. The jury's recommendation was 9-3 for the death penalty R505. On October 4, 1993, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the murder conviction R539-545,549. The trial court departed from the recommended guideline sentence of 9-22 years R538, and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the aggravated burglary R555, and life imprisonment for the sexual battery R555. On October 7, 1993, the trial court filed its sentencing order R539-545, Appendix.

A timely notice of appeal was filed R567.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The relevant facts are as follows.

Mrs. Emma Dickenson testified that on August 27, 1988, her daughter, Marsha Ross, came over for dinner T477,479. At 11:00 the next morning Dickenson called Ross T482. She called all day long, but there would be a busy signal T482-83. Marsha Ross had narcolepsy and would fall asleep if not taking her medication T478. Dickenson and her husband went to their daughter's residence at 8:00 p.m. T483. They found Marsha Ross dead on the couch T484. Mr. Dickenson called the police T484-85.

Members of the Vero Beach Police Department described what they observed at Marsha Ross' residence. Marsha Ross was on a couch. Her hands were bound with a white phone cord T504,519. There was a hair wrapped in this cord T523,525. A brown cord from a lamp had been wrapped around her neck and tied into a double knot T504,520,537. The lamp was located behind Ross' head on the couch T537. There were no signs of struggle to the lamp shade T537. The cord was plugged in, but the cord was severed T537. A knife was found nearby T503. Decomposition had already started and Ross' face and hands were a dark purple T492.

A full bottle of a drug used for treatment of narcolepsy was collected from the scene T632. A window in Ross' residence was open and the screen was pushed in so that someone could easily reach through and touch the door area T504. An open purse was on the counter T503. A package of grapes was found T503. An ashtray contained a grape stem, a green grape and cigarette butts T503. A seat cushion of the couch was found on the floor T503. A large towel and wash cloth were found next to the cushion T503,565. There was also a tube of Neosporin and some packaging on the floor T503. There were brown stains on the floor that appeared to be Ross' blood T503,519. The television set was on T532. Hairs were found at the sink, couch and on Ross T526. The bedroom had two sliding glass doors that were open T529. Due to the opening being covered by cobwebs, it did not appear that anyone had recently passed through this doorway T539. Clothing and jewelry were found lying around T529. A small lamp in the southeast section of the residence was on T532. Plane tickets to Akron with a departure date of September 1st were found at the scene T608.

An argon laser was used to search for hairs, fibers, seminal fluid, latent fingerprints and blood stains T530. Hairs in the apartment were found and turned in for analysis T541. They turned out to be those of Marsha Ross T541. No semen was found within Ross nor on the sofa cushion T543. Fingernail scrapings were performed on Ross T543. No skin, particles, blood or anything of significance was found T543. No prints of evidentiary value other than those of Ross and her family were found T582. The blue towel found near the cushion was taken into evidence T565.

Detective Frank Divincenzo of the Vero Beach Police Department testified that a general statement regarding the murder was released to the press stating that a female was strangled with a cord T629. Several articles were written in the paper T629. The press determined that a telephone cord had been used T629. Over objection, Divincenzo testified that an anonymous tip gave the name Neil Wilding T622. None of the hairs, fibers, or blood found at the scene matched Appellant's T633.

- 3 -

On August 4, 1992, Marsha Ross' wallet was found underneath a shed located at the south side of Ross' residence T634,638.

Medical Examiner, Raul Vila, performed the autopsy on Marsha Ross on August 29, 1988 T751. Ross had started to decompose T753. The orbits of her eyes were hemorrhagic T754. Ross' lips were contused or There were bruises and scrapes around the neck bruised T754. consistent with a cord behind tied around the neck and squeezed, or with it being loosened and tied again T755. Ross had a recent scrape on the right thumb and ligature marks around her wrists T758,760. There was a laceration along with an area of redness on the superior aspect of the vagina T763. This can be consistent with sexual battery T763. The laceration could also be caused by things other than sexual battery T773. It could be caused by the use of a feminine product by Ross if the infection could be caused by medication in the tube T772. The inflammation in the vagina was chronic -- which means that it was older as opposed to more recent T773. Vila did not do any tests to determine of there was any Neosporin within the vaginal area T772. Vila could not say that Ross was raped T774. Vila could not tell whether the redness inside the vagina was due to decomposition or trauma T764,770. There was no trauma to the external genitalia T771. Vila also examined the contents of Ross' stomach T765. The stomach contained what appeared to be grapes or other fruit T766. Vila concluded from his examination that asphyxia was the cause of death Vila estimated the 5 to 7 minutes is the longest time that T767. somebody can go without taking air T768. The length of time varies according to the individual T768. Ross was 5 feet 8 inches tall and weighed 230 pounds T771.

Daniel Nippes of the regional crime laboratory testified that he examined the housecoat worn by Ross, a towel found near Ross, a sex crimes kit of Ross and a bedsheet used to transport Ross T704-05,706,709. There were some blood stains and a small amount of semen stains on the housecoat T705. There was too little semen to test T705. There were also blood stains on the bedsheet T705. The blood stains were all consistent with Ross T728. There was nothing significant in the sex crimes kit T706. There was no finding of spermatozoa, pubic hairs or anything else foreign to Ross T706-07. No semen was found in the vagina T739. The fingernail scrapings performed on Ross had nothing of forensic value T707. The towel contained semen stains, blood stains and some caucasian hairs T709. The two caucasian pubic hairs were similar to pubic hairs of Marsha Ross T711. Hair taken from Ross' hands and the cord around her neck were body hairs that were not suitable for forensic comparison T711. Semen stains were cut out of the towel for DNA analysis T710. Nippes performed a PCR analysis on the semen stain and compared it to the blood standards of Appellant T726. The semen stains were mixed with some other bodily fluid T724. In some areas the two were not separated T725. The semen stains matched the blood sample of Appellant T730. According to Nippes, approximately 99.8% of the population would not match the semen stain found on the towel T730. Nippes was not able to eliminate Appellant from being the donor of the semen stain T730. The data base Nippes was relying on was based on 2,000 individuals in Florida T736. Nippes recognized that 600 people in Florida could have matched the semen stains T1736. Nippes also testified that the towel could have come from any location T740. Appellant was not the contributor of the pubic hairs found on the towel T740-41.

Lisa Bennett was employed by Lifecodes Corporation in 1988 and at that time received towel and bed sheet cuttings in this case T950-51. The towel cuttings contained semen and blood stains T951. A DNA print was obtained from one of the towel cuttings T961. The other towel cutting did not yield a DNA print T961. A DNA print was obtained from the bedsheet T963.

Richard Cunningham was employed by Lifecodes Corporation and in 1991 was asked to process certain items regarding the murder of Marsha Ross T982. Cunningham had blood samples from Linda Manuel and Tosha Wilding and was asked to perform a paternity test on an unknown sample that another scientist had previously tested T983. This was an unusual case because Cunningham had never been asked to process a sample where a mother and child's blood was submitted T987. Cunningham compared the semen stain (State's Exhibit 48) to the DNA of the mother and child T996. About a year later Cunningham was sent a blood sample to compare with the semen stain T997. It was submitted as the blood standard of Appellant T998.

Michael Baird works at Lifecodes as the vice-president of laboratory operations T1015. Baird reviewed the work done in this case T1023. Baird testified that the semen stain taken from the towel cutting could not be excluded as originating from the biological father of the child (Tosha Wilding) T1030. Baird calculated that the probability of paternity was 99.96% T1030-31. Based on this figure, assuming that there are 10 million people in Florida, 50% of which are male of which 60% could produce semen, there are between 1,200 and 2,000 individuals that could have provided that particular semen sample T1052. Baird testified that there was a DNA numerical match of the semen stain and the towel cutting to the blood standard of Appellant T1037. The DNA positions of the semen stain and the blood standard of Appellant appeared to be very similar T1038. The frequency of the patterns that were matched would be about one in every twelve million caucasian individuals T1048. Baird testified that he was familiar with the "ceiling" principle, but that Lifecodes did not abide by the ceiling principle in calculating frequencies T1053. The ceiling principle would result in a more conservative frequency T1053. Lifecodes is a profit company T1020. Lifecodes was paid \$1200.00 for Baird's court appearance T1053.

Elizabeth Lowden testified that in August of 1988 she lived with Appellant and his brother, Gerald Sturgess T798. There was a time in late August, a couple of days before Gerald's birthday which was August 28, that Appellant went out and came back later T802-03. Appellant and his brother's talking woke Lowden T084. Appellant asked Lowden if she wanted some grapes T805. Lowden heard Appellant tell his brother that a couple of girls picked him up on the bridge and took him to the beach and were feeding him grapes T805-06. The next morning Lowden saw a tray of grapes on the nightstand T806. They were in a styrofoam container T806.

Krisken Robinson testified that his memory was not fully intact, but that specific parts of his memory were intact T827. Robinson worked at Treasure Coast Masonry and knew Appellant T827-28. One day there was a discussion among the work crew concerning a murder that occurred in Vero Beach T830. Robinson doesn't remember Appellant being on the work crew this day T830. Approximately two days after hearing about the murder, Robinson saw that Appellant had 4 deep scrapes on his arm T831. Robinson saw Appellant on the job site every day, but this was the first time he saw the scratches T834. Appellant said he had

- 7 -

cut himself on the block T831. One day later Appellant did not turn up for work for the next couple of weeks T833. When Appellant returned to work he continued to work there for some time T834-35.

Officer Terry Franklin of the Soles Police Department in Soles, Oklahoma, testified that on April 4, 1992, he pulled over a Ford Grenada that was driving over the center line T903. Franklin arrested Appellant T904. Franklin asked him for his name T904. Appellant identified himself as Neil W. Wilding T904. Appellant did not have a driver's license, but indicated that he had one at one time T904. Franklin asked from what state T904. Appellant replied from Florida T904. Franklin went to run the information T904-05. Before the information came back, Appellant said "that it could come back possibly with a warrant for murder" T905.

Sandi Schmidt testified that she lives in Shelley, Montana, and has three sons -- Kim, Gerald and Appellant T867-68. Gerald is Appellant's half brother T869. Kim and Appellant resulted from separate births, but they look almost identical T890. In September of 1988, Appellant phoned Schmidt and said that he thought he was in trouble T871. He said he had met a girl in a cafe or something T873. Schmidt didn't remember exactly where Appellant had said T873. Appellant was invited to her place where her boyfriend would be T873. They went to a motel room T873. These people asked Appellant to untangle a phone cord T873. Appellant untangled the cord and when Appellant gave the phone to the woman she told him to "put it down anywhere" T874. The people knew Appellant's brother Kim T873. The woman told Appellant, "tell Kim now we're even" T875. Kim was in Vero Beach at a drug rehabilitation center at this time T876,890. Appellant told Schmidt there had been a murder and the purpose of untangling the cord was to get his fingerprints on the cord T875. He thought he was being framed because he had heard in the media that there was a phone cord involved T888.

Appellant called Schmidt several times after that T876. After Schmidt learned that Appellant was wanted for murder, she spoke with him and told him to clear it up T881. Appellant said that he would T881. The next time Appellant called was from Oklahoma T882. Appellant told Schmidt that he had been arrested T883. Appellant said that he had no idea who Ross was and he had never seen her before an attorney showed him her picture T884.

Julie Britt testified that she lived in Ashville, North Carolina, and never knew a person by the name of Neil Wilding T931. Britt identified Appellant as the person she knew as John Sturgess in 1990 T934. Appellant moved in Britt's place of business T935. Appellant moved out in April of 1992 T936.

- 9 -

PENALTY PHASE

During the penalty phase the state repeated much of the testimony of the police, medical examiner, Daniel Nippes, that was introduced during the guilt phase of trial. Collen Ross also testified that her mother was 49 years old when she died and identified her mother's wallet T1752.

Della Wooten testified that she lives in Marshall, North Carolina, and that Appellant worked for her family from 1989 to 1992 T1850. Appellant picked strawberries and blackberries, cut and hung tobacco, laid block and a number of different things T1851. Appellant would never take breaks when the others would and would only take 15 minutes for lunch and would be back to work before anyone else T1853. Appellant outworked the other employees T1853. He was the best worker they had and was always very respectful to Wooten's family T1854. Wooten understands that Appellant has been convicted of murder in the first degree, but if given the opportunity Wooten would rehire Appellant "in a heartbeat" T1854-55.

Jean Hensley testified that Della Wooten is her daughter T1858. Hensley knew Appellant by the name of John Sturgess which was his stepfather's name T1859. Appellant did such work as picking strawberries and cutting tobacco T1859. Appellant also helped rebuild the house after it burned down T1859. Appellant did not request to be paid for that work T1860. Hensley's husband told Appellant that they did not have money to pay him T1860. Appellant replied that he wasn't there for the money; he was there to help friends T1860. Appellant was a good hard worker T1860. He would not take breaks T1860. He would only stop for dinner long enough to eat a bite T1860. Hensley knows that Appellant has been convicted of murder in the first degree, but would rehire him and give him a place to live if given the chance T1861.

Appellant's mother, Sandi Schmidt, testified that Appellant's father died two days before Appellant's first birthday T1867. Schmidt remarried with a man named Sturgess T1867. Schmidt worked two jobs when Appellant grew up T1868. She worked from 6:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., then would come home for 3 or 4 hours and then would work until 2:00 or 3:00 in the morning T1868. Mr. Sturgess would have responsibility for the children T1868. When Appellant was 15 years old he called his mother at work T1868. Appellant told her he was not going to return home until his mother got him T1869. She asked why T1869. He said, "I'm not going to be beat any more" T1869. Schmidt had an inclination about what had been happening T1869. Sturgess had been beating Appellant T1826. Schmidt later found out that Sturgess had frequently beaten Appellant T1870. When Schmidt was home Sturgess seemed like the perfect father, but Schmidt found out when she was gone his behavior was different T1873. When the family would go to town shopping, leaving Sturgess at home, the necks of animals, kittens and the dog, would be broken T1872-73. Sturgess also killed three horses T1874. Schmidt believes that Sturgess may have killed the children's animals in order to keep them silent about the abuse T1874. In Schmidt's opinion the fear of violence kept the children silent and it was when they were 500 miles away before they finally felt free to say anything T1875.

Dr. Mary Hicks, recognized by the court as an expert in the field of mental health, testified that she interviewed Appellant for four hours and his mother for one hour T1904-05. From the background information Dr. Hicks received, Appellant experienced a lot of abuse

at the hands of his stepfather T1907. What happens to a person in childhood and adolescence influences what happens when he or she is an adult T1952-53. Appellant received the beatings at a very important stage of his life when he was trying to establish some sense of identity T1907-08. Animals were important to Appellant because of his unfortunate relationship with his stepfather T1912. Appellant told Dr. Hicks that his stepfather killed his favorite dog T1911. The cat died of a broken neck T1911. Appellant's schooling was affected and he dropped out and got a job washing dishes T1910. Appellant got mixed up in drugs T1910. Appellant smoked marijuana regularly T1916. Appellant told Dr. Hicks that on the night of the crime he smoked marijuana and that his tongue got numb and he had a blackout T1914. This could cause some sort of extreme emotional disturbance T1915. Dr. Hicks has no information as to whether Appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance on the night Marsha Ross was killed T1937.

Dr. Hicks testified that Appellant's potential for rehabilitation is "very high" T1919. Appellant is capable of acquiring a sense of responsibility to himself and others T1945. Appellant is capable of making commitments that he previously has not been capable of making T1945. Appellant has a lot of good qualities in terms of care and compassion T1919. Everyone who knows Appellant talks about his concern for other people T1919. Appellant has a number of skills T1919. He is mechanical and artistic T1919. Since he has been incarcerated, Appellant has recognized for the first time that he has a really good brain T1922. Dr. Hicks has had a lot of people try to "con" her T1913. Dr. Hicks does not feel that Appellant was malingering or conning her T1912. William Holland testified that he is a minister involved with the ministry in the jail T1897. Appellant participated in classes taught by Holland at the jail T1898. It was a 14 week course involving counselling for alcohol and drug addiction T1898. Appellant had individual counselling with Holland T1898. Appellant went to all the classes and graduated successfully T1899. Appellant had a normal relationship with others in the class T1899. Appellant related very well in class T1901. Appellant always exhibited a good attitude T1899. Holland has seen personal growth in Appellant's life and changes in his thinking T1899.

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