IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	I	L	E	D
	Str) 14	AUTE	

NEIL WILSON WILDING,) NOV 1 1995
Appellant,	CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
vs.) CASE NO. 82,696
STATE OF FLORIDA,))
Appellee.	
	<i>)</i>)

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0656879

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299 (407) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

<u>Harris</u>, 544 So. 2d at 324. In all the cases relied upon by appellant, there was information regarding the content of the tip. Even in <u>Postell</u>, although the actual contents of the statements were not revealed, the jury was well aware that the caller was an eyewitness to the robbery. <u>Id</u>, at 851. No such information was revealed, nor can any inference be made in the instant case.

All that is known is that a tip was given and the appellant's name was mentioned. Obviously common sense dictates that the name of the defendant would be apart of the tip, considering that the testimony relates to the logical sequence of how appellant became a suspect. The Detective simply

stated that as a result of the tips, leads were followed. The specific information in those leads was never revealed, (R 623) consequently the dictates of <u>Harris</u> and <u>Baird</u> have been adhered to.

Unlike the situation in the cases relied upon by appellant, he was not left in the untenable position of being unable to attack a specific allegation that formed the basis of his guilt. Davis v. State, 493 So. 2d 11 (3rd DCA 1986)(inadmissible hearsay referred to 15-20 witnesses who were in the vicinity of crime and lead police to defendant's car); Beatty v. State, 486 So. 2d 59 (4th DCA 1986);(police officer stated that they received several anonymous tips all claiming that the defendant fired the gun); Thomas v. State, 581 So. 2d 993 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991)(jury heard tape recording of an anonymous tip describing the defendant and stating that he was carrying drugs).

If this Court determines that the mere reference to the appellant's name constitutes details of the accusatory information and therefore was inadmissible hearsay, any error must be considered harmless beyond any reasonable doubt under <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1991)(reference to defendant's extradition to show consciousness of guilt was harmless error since the statement was brief and undeveloped).

The statement was not focused upon nor was it brought to the jury's attention again. <u>Baird</u>. The admissible evidence at trial consisted of the following; appellant lived within one block of Marsha Ross at the time of the murder, appellant told his mother an incredible story that he was going to be framed for murder, after the murder he began using aliases, he knew two specific facts about the murder that were not known by the general public and DNA testing revealed that there is a very high probability that the semen left at the scene belonged to him. DeVencenzo's naming of appellant did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 1991)(out-of-court

statement by eyewitness regarding how police came to regard defendant as a suspect was harmless error given that the fact proven by the erroneous statement was established through other witnesses).

ISSUE II

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE PROSECUTOR PRESENTED MISLEADING ARGUMENT REGARDING DNA EVIDENCE IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL; IN THE ALTERNATIVE THE CLAIM IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Appellant accuses the prosecutor of misleading the jury regarding the meaning/interpretation of the DNA evidence. The prosecutor's use of the word "match" and "identified" when describing the statistical probability that the DNA evidence found at the crime scene was that of appellant's, gave the false impression that such technology is capable of identifying the source to the exclusion of all others. A review of the challenged remarks reveals that no objections were made regarding any of the alleged statements, consequently review is precluded. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 938, 11 S. Ct. 2067, 114 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1991); Ross v. State, 386 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 1980); Bertollotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343 (Fla.) cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1032, 110 S.Ct. 3296, 111 L. Ed.2d 804 (1990). Secondly the comments when taken as a whole in conjunction with the testimony presented, as well as the remarks of both counsel at opening and closing reveal that the isolated comments were proper and were not in any way misleading.

As stated above the comments must be viewed in the context of the entire trial. Arguing logical inferences that can be drawn from the evidence is permissible. Mann v. State, 603 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 1992). In opening statement the prosecutor stated that there was a one in twelve million chance that the semen at the scene was not that of the appellant. (R 463). The defense explained in opening that at best the evidence only indicated that appellant cannot be eliminated as a suspect. (R 465). During the testimony of one of the state's DNA experts, the jury heard the following explanation regarding the relevance of DNA evidence; the PCR test is designed to eliminate possible

donors, (R 716), appellant cannot be eliminated as a potential contributor of the semen, (R 730, 738, 1021), exclusion of possible contributors is 100% (R 1021), inclusion of possible contributor's is a very high percentage and is not absolute. (R 1021, 739). A comparison of appellant's semen found at the scene coupled with a paternity determination of appellant's child reveal that there is a 99.96% chance that appellant is the contributor of the semen at the crime scene. (R 726, 1031, 1122). There is a one in twelve million chance that someone other than appellant is the contributor of that semen. (R 1048, 1052).

During closing argument, defense attorney stated that the evidence was not a match and there were possibly 600-2,000 other men who could have been the donor of the semen. (R 1106, 1136-1137, 1140, 1198). A match is only equal to the technical capability of the testing. Since 2,000 other men could have contributed the semen, a reasonable doubt exists as to appellant's guilt. (R 1140). Defense counsel again emphasized that at best the state's evidence could not exclude appellant. (R 109). The state's emphasis on the high probability that it was appellant's semen that was found at the scene was permissible.. The prosecutor's use of the words "match" and identification" were logical explanations of the statistical evidence. Mann.

The prosecutor's comparison regarding the statistical probabilities to the odds of drowning in your bathtub is also not impermissible. Given there was no objection at trial, appellant must demonstrate that any error was fundamental. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 612 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 1992)(absent objection, appellate court will not reverse a conviction unless error was fundamental).. It cannot be said that the isolated reference to drowning in your bathtub is so prejudicial that it vitiated the entire trial. <u>Jones</u>.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY LIMITED CROSS-EXAMINATION OF STATE WITNESS.

Appellant claims that the trial court reversibly erred when it limited cross-examination regarding DNA analysis. Appellant must establish that the trial court abused its discretion in sustaining the state's objection to the questions. Maggard v. State, 399 So. 2d 973, 975 (Fla.1981). Appellant has failed to meet his burden. Appellant's right to full and fair cross-examination is not without limits. The inquiry on cross must be related to matters of credibility or germane to issues brought out on direct. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1982).

During cross-examination, appellant asked the witness to describe certain bands on the autorad. The state objected on the grounds that the question was beyond the scope of direct. (R 1007). The objection was properly sustained.. Appellant argued that the question was "basically" about sizing of the band, however it is clear that such was not the case. (R 1007 lines 7-15). A review of the direct testimony reveals that a visual description of the bands is not a part of the procedure of sizing. (R 994). A visual examination of the bands is done to exclude someone as a source of the material. The next procedure would be sizing. (R 989). Appellant was never precluded from questioning the witness regarding the sizing of the autorad. (R 989, 994, 1005-1009). The witness's description of other bands on the autorad is irrelevant to the sizing procedure and was not discussed on direct examination. (R 989, 994, 1001-1003, 1005). A discussion of the bands itself was not germane to the issue of seizing consequently it was properly limited. Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274, 276 (Fla.) (no improper limiting of cross-examination on defense's theory of the murder since no evidence to support that theory.) In any event on redirect and recross, the number

of bands on the different ladders was addressed. (R 1008). On recross appellant inquired into the accuracy of the new ladder used since it contained less bands. (R 1009), consequently, if error it was harmless. Morgan v. State, 415 So. 2d 6, 10-11 (Fla 1982)(since defendant was permitted to ask question that had earlier been disallowed, error was harmless). Pace v. State, 596 So. 2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 1992)(error to limit cross-examination on point is harmless given the lack of significance and appellant could have presented evidence through means other than cross-examination). Appellant was afforded the expertise of various DNA experts, consequently if the area of concern was so important, appellant could have pursued that line of inquiry.(R 80, 95, 292-294).

ISSUE IV

TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL TO CHARGE OF SEXUAL BATTERY.

Appellant alleges that the trial court erred in not granting his motion for judgement of acquittal for the charge of sexual battery. He claims that the state's evidence consisted of a laceration to the inside of Ms. Ross's vagina, presence of semen on a towel found near Ms. Ross and semen found on her housecoat. He further relies on the medical examiner's testimony on cross-examination that the injury could have been caused something other than sexual battery.

On appeal, the Court must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the state. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So. 2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1976). The state is not required to rebut conclusively every possible variation of the facts. Nor is the jury required to believe the defense's version of the facts as long as the state has introduced evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's theory of events. State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187, 189 (Fla. 1989). All that is required is substantial competent evidence to support the jury's verdict. Holton v. State, 573 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1990).

With these principles in mind, appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgement of acquittal. The relevant evidence upon which the jury could have relied is the following. Ms. Ross was bound with cord around her neck and hands. (R 504). Her housecoat was open at the front. (R 504). Semen was found on the hem of her housecoat as well as on a towel found near the body. (R 705, 709). Ms. Ross had a contusion behind her right ear and bruising to her lips and eyes that are consistent with being hit in the face. (R 754). In addition to the ligature marks around her neck that were caused from strangulation, there was also bruising and

scraping around her neck. (R 755). There was a laceration on the inside of the vagina as well as redness to the superior aspect of the wall of the vagina. Both injuries were recent and fresh indicating that they occurred shortly before death. (R 758, 763, 773). The injuries were consistent with sexual battery. (R 773). Appellant's reliance on the fact that there was no semen in the vagina nor external injuries to the vagina is of no moment. The medical examiner testified that semen could have decomposed and it is not uncommon not to see external injuries. (R 767, 774). The evidence established that Ms. Ross received recent internal injuries to the vagina, semen was present on the hem of her housecoat, as well as on a towel near her body. Her housecoat was open revealing her nude body. She was obviously beaten in the head and face. This evidence was more than sufficient to establish that a sexual battery occurred. Holton, supra.

¹ A microscopic examination revealed a chronic inflammation in the vagina. This does not negate the findings regarding the two recent injuries.

ISSUE V

APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE INDICTMENT REGARDING THE CHARGE AND CONVICTION FOR SEXUAL BATTERY IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL; IN ANY EVENT THE INDICTMENT SUFFICIENTLY TRACKED THE LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE

Appellant alleges that the indictment fails to allege an essential element of the crime of sexual battery because the definition of sexual battery does not appear in the indictment. Appellant also claims that he is not procedurally barred from raising this issue, irrespective of his failure to raise it below because the error is fundamental. <u>State v. Gray</u>, 435 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 1983). Appellant is incorrect on both assertions.

Under Florida law, it is fundamental error to convict under an indictment that fails to allege one or more of the essential elements of the crime. Gray. However in the instant case, the indictment did not omit any essential element of the crime. Identical to the facts in Gray, the offense was charged in the language of the statute and the indictment referenced the appropriate section of the statue.(R 13). Consequently even if there is error it cannot be deemed to be fundamental, review is precluded. Debose v. State, 520 So. 2d 260, 264-265 (Fla. 1988).

Secondly there was no deficiency in the indictment. Again <u>Debose</u> is dispositive. Identical to the facts of <u>Debose</u>, appellant was on notice as to the charges against him. The definition of "sexual battery" appears in the applicable portion of the statute under which he was charged. Appellant cannot demonstrate that any actual prejudice occurred.² The issue is without merit <u>Id</u>.

² The jury was properly instructed on the elements of sexual battery. (R 1146).

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE ADMISSION OF DNA EVIDENCE

Appellant alleges the admission of DNA evidence during the guilt phase denied him due process and a fair trial. Appellant identifies several areas of concern regarding admission of this type of evidence. On appeal the main thrust of appellant's attack centers on the procedures and statistics employed by the laboratory which conducted the DNA testing, Life Codes Corporation. Specifically appellant attacks the following: 1). statistical frequencies used by Life Codes did not contain a substructure database for Hispanics; 3; 2). Life Codes has not instituted a procedure or criteria for matching or identifying sample patterns; 3). Life Codes will rely on tests results even when bandshifting occurs in the DNA evidence; 4). Life Codes has been cited for using contaminated probes in a specific case. 5 The entire basis for this indictment against Life Codes Corporation is a report authored by the National Research Council's Committee on DNA Technology in Forensic Science (1992) (referred to as "NRC

Testimony was presented using a Caucasian database and an African American database. Using both databases, the statistics eliminated 99.8 percent of the population as being a possible contributor of the semen left at the crime scene. Wilding was in the remaining .021 percent of the population that could have contributed the semen.(R 726).

This Court agreed with Hayes that the "band-shifting" technique is not generally accepted in the scientific community. <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S296 June 22, 1995) However, the band-shifting problem which lead to the exclusion of specific evidence in is not present in the instant case.

Other courts have found that Life Codes procedures and protocol have proven to be generally accepted by the scientific community. <u>People v. Wesley</u>, 633 N.E. 2d 451, 456 (N.Y. 1994); <u>Caldwell v. State</u>, 393 S.E. 2d 436, 442 (Ga. 1990).

report"). Lastly relying on <u>Ramirez v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1989), appellant alleges that the scientific predicate for the admission of DNA must be established through independent evidence. [The state disagrees with appellant's claim that <u>Ramirez</u> requires that a sufficient predicate must be laid through an independent source. Although such a predicate is necessary, the status of that person need not be impartial. <u>Ramierez</u>, 542 So. 2d at 355.] As will be demonstrated below, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. This Court must decline review.

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